**Bachelor Thesis** 

# How does reverse factoring affect operating performance? An event study of United States manufacturing firms



**Understanding Society** 

by

Evi de Kok

09 June 2022

Student Number: 2043880

Program of Study: Liberal Arts & Sciences – Major Business & Economics

Supervisor: Hung-Jui Wu

## Management summary

Reverse factoring is an innovative technique in supply chain finance, one that has been gaining attention in both theory and practice. It has been widely adopted by buyer firms, however, the extant literature on the performance effect of implementing reverse factoring using archival data remains scarce. This research wanted to narrow this gap by examining the relationship between reverse factoring implementation and operating performance, and the influence of culture on the strength of the relationship. This study considers the abnormal performance of publicly listed buying firms in the manufacturing sector in the United States of America after reverse factoring implementation announcements. The results show that reverse factoring has a positive effect on buyers' operating performance in terms of profitability (return on assets) and operating profit margin. However, no effect was found for cost efficiency. In addition, the results show that United States culture possibly weakens the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance. Overall, this study shows that the implementation of reverse factoring within the United States is beneficial but does need careful consideration.

# List of abbreviations

CEO:	Chief Executive Officer
ERBV:	Extended Resource-Based View
NAICS:	North American Industry Classification System
RBV:	Resource-Based View
RF:	Reverse Factoring
SCF:	Supply Chain Finance
SCV:	Supply Chain Visibility
SET:	Social Exchange Theory
SME:	Small and Medium-Sized Enterprise
US:	United States

# Figures and tables

Figure 1: Conceptual framework hypothesis 1	16
Table 1: Measurement of performance	23
Table 2: Characteristics of sample and control firms	27
Table 3: Abnormal operating performance of sample firms	28
Table 4: WSR test results of the compared studies	29
Table 5: comparison of period t-1 to t+1 for performance indicator "profitability" (ROA)	30
Table 6: comparison of period t-1 to t+1 for performance indicator "cost efficiency"	30
Table 7: Post-hoc analysis results of abnormal performance of sample firms	31

# Table of contents

Management summary	1
List of abbreviations	2
Figures and tables	3
Table of contents	4
1 Introduction	6
2 Literature review	.0
2.1 Origin of literature	0
2.2 Defining reverse factoring	0
2.2.1 Benefits of reverse factoring1	.1
2.3 Prior research on reverse factoring and operating performance1	2
2.4 The relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance1	.3
2.5 The influence of US culture on reverse factoring implementation1	.7
2.5.1 National culture1	.7
2.5.2 Prior research1	.7
2.5.3 Individualism vs collectivism	.8
2.5.4 The negative influence of individualism1	.9
3 Methodology	0
3.1 The nature of the research	0
3.2 Research strategy	0
3.2.1 Research design 2	1
3.3 Data collection	2
3.3.1 Sampling method 2	2
3.3.2 Data collection method 2	2
3.4 Data analysis	4
3.5 Influence of US culture on the relationship2	6
3.6 Validity and reliability	6
4 Results	6
4.1 Descriptive statistics	6
4.2 The effect of reverse factoring on performance2	7
4.3 The influence of US culture on the relationship2	9
4.4 Post-hoc tests	0
5 Discussion	2
5.1 Theoretical contributions	2

5.2 Managerial implications	35
5.3 Limitations and future research directions	36
6 Bibliography	38
Appendices	47
Appendix 1: overview of sample firm distribution across industries and years	47
Appendix 2: Study results Shou et al. (2021)	48

## 1 Introduction

The term 'supply chain finance' was first explicitly mentioned by Stemmler (2002). Supply chain finance (SCF) is commonly defined as "the inter-company optimization of financing as well as the integration of financing processes with customers, suppliers, and service providers in order to increase the value of all participating companies" (Pfohl & Gomm, 2009, p. 151). However, many different definitions are used. SCF is sometimes an umbrella term for a range of financial instruments, as Pfohl & Gomm (2009) describe, but it can also refer to a specific technique of the SCF portfolio. SCF is a form of collaboration between buyer and supplier, which has gained more attention in Supply Chain Management research, and helps firms improve their working capital significantly (Chan & Chan, 2009). A supply chain is considered as an inter-company combination of product, information, and financial flows (Pfohl & Gomm, 2009). In the past, research in supply chain management mainly focused on making the material and information flow more efficient, but the financial flows between companies have only gained attention in the past years (Pfohl & Gomm, 2009). SCF combines the two fields of operations and finance. Where one matches the demand of material flows with supply in operations management, the other does the same for the demand of monetary flows in finance (Zhao & Huchzermeier, 2018). Applying the perspective of the resource-based view (RBV) of the firm, combining these two practices in an integrative way effectively can create a sustainable competitive advantage. Financial institutions can offer SCF by granting both the buyer and supplier better payment terms that improves liquidity and working capital (Hofmann et al., 2017; Marchi et al., 2020). SCF is getting more attention because working capital has become an important metric for CEOs with a focus on profitable growth, since the environment is turning increasingly competitive and globalized (Hofmann et al., 2017).

The effectiveness of SCF depends on the extent of cooperation between the actors. Good cooperation between buyer and supplier can lower debt costs, make way for new opportunities to obtain loans, and improve working capital (Marchi et al., 2020). There are different forms of supply chain finance that a company can utilize. As was outlined by the Euro Banking Association (2014), a company can use supplier-centric traditional factoring, trade credit or inventory-centric finance, and buyer-centric reverse factoring. Traditional factoring is an approach initiated by the supplier, where they sell accounts receivable to a third party at a discount for immediate cash, to improve working capital (Zhao & Huckzermeier, 2018). Inventory financing means that a company uses a short-term loan or line of credit to purchase new inventory to sell at a later date. The inventory is then used as collateral for the loan (Jiang & Liu, 2018). SCF is often used interchangeably with reverse factoring (RF). Reverse factoring is one of the most popular external SCF initiatives. It is initiated by the buyer, which is the main difference with traditional factoring where the supplier approaches the financial

institution (lacono et al., 2015). The buyer uses its credit rating to give the supplier access to cash. Instead of paying the supplier directly, the buyer allows a financing firm to interpose itself between their own company and the supplier. The invoice sent by the supplier is paid relatively quickly by the financial institution at interest rate lower than the market, allowing the buyer to pay the financing firm back at a later date, combined with the loan principle (lacono et al., 2015; Tanrisever et al., 2015; Grüter & Wuttke, 2017). Especially with the increasingly complex and globalized environment, and challenging economic conditions, finding tools to make supply chains more efficient, increase working capital and improve buyer-supplier relationships is essential.

Considering the context, COVID-19 has caused supply chains around the world to grind to a halt, stretching working capital of many companies (Basquill, 2020). Atlanta-based PrimeRevenue, a provider of RF, reported that because of the sudden need for liquidity, "the proportion of invoices traded for early payment rose from 77% in January to 93% two months later" (Basquill, 2020). Funding from these providers appear to have remained resilient, indicating that this form of financing is stable under unstable conditions. The benefits of reverse factoring for actors are clear. Suppliers reduce their working capital costs through implementation of RF as they access more liquidity. Banks benefit from RF through the income they receive through interest or fees charged when suppliers borrow against the value of their accounts receivable (lacono et al., 2015; Grüter & Wuttke, 2017). However, for buyers the benefits are less clear or quantifiable. Buyers can directly benefit from the payment term extensions or price discounts originating from RF, but buyers can also indirectly benefit from the suppliers' ability to avoid liquidity shortages, leading to fewer supply disruptions (Grüter & Wuttke, 2017). So, there is still a significant gap within literature on the benefits for buying firms in a reverse factoring arrangement. Moreover, Zhang et al. (2019) found that implementing reverse factoring also comes with some downsides for the buyer, like additional efforts in training and IT tools. Because of both the benefits and the drawbacks of SCF from a buyer perspective, but also the vague nature of the benefits, having a good indication whether reverse factoring is positively associated with buyer performance is necessary. Firms can use this information to gain a more complete picture of the effects of implementation of reverse factoring and to see if implementation actually leads to improved operating performance.

To date there have been case studies (van Laere, 2012; Liebl et al., 2016) and model development (Marchi et al., 2020; lacono et al., 2015; Bi et al., 2022) to examine the performance effect of reverse factoring, but a quantitative method using archival data has rarely been used. Using archival data helps offer a unique perspective on old research questions that were already examined in previous studies (Miller et al., 2021). Archival data are often unique items that cannot be obtained elsewhere, are more publicly available allowing for true *re*-search, and are usually more objective,

especially financial data, thus enhancing the credibility of the research (Calantone & Vickery, 2010). A recent article by Shou et al. (2021) was one of the first in which archival data was used to assess the relationship of RF and operating performance. In this research, Chinese buying firms in the manufacturing sector, who announced implementation of reverse factoring, were used to measure this relationship. One of the issues identified by this research, was that generalizability was not optimal because the research was focused only on Chinese buying firms in the manufacturing industry (Shou et al., 2021). This research will focus on listed manufacturers in the United States which have announced and implemented reverse factoring. This will fill the gap and contribute to the generalizability of the findings identified in other studies.

This research is grounded by social exchange theory (SET) and extended resource-based view (ERBV). Implementing reverse factoring can help strengthen the relationship between buyer and supplier, thus creating a partnership. Both SET and ERBV help explain how such a relationship creates additional benefits such as reciprocity, trust, and transparency, how it can help companies accumulate relational resources, that help avoid certain deviant behaviors, lower costs, and can improve performance significantly. Grounded by ERBV and SET, this research will advance the SCF literature by offering additional empirical research on the performance effect of reverse factoring. Moreover, it will contribute to a deeper understanding of reverse factoring on a buyer firm's operating performance. Many studies have used operating performance as a dependent variable in SCM research (Lee, 2021; Liu et al., 2020). Operating performance measures results relative to the assets are used to get to those results. It can be examined looking at cost efficiency and profitability of a firm (Shou et al., 2021). Financial measures, such as sales growth and profits as a percent of sales can reflect differences in life cycles of firms, product mixes, and financing choices made by the firm. They do not, however, give an indication of differences in overall operating performance, which explains what returns you get on your asset investments (Core et al., 2006). So, to provide a full account of the effect of RF on operating performance, examining operating performance through cost efficiency and profitability in combination with the financial measure 'operating profit margin' will be best suited. Providing this deeper understanding of the impact of this relationship could help companies in providing arguments to implement reverse factoring.

In addition to this, this research will contribute to current research by examining the possible differences in context between two distinct cultures. To date, not much research has been done on the possible effects of culture on the success of reverse factoring implementation. Shou et al. (2021) found that, within Chinese context, reverse factoring had a positive effect on buying firms' operating performance in terms of cost efficiency and profitability measured by ROA. However, cultural factors of the US might lead to a different result by affecting the differences in social exchanges between

8

buyers and suppliers, or the strength of the relationship between actors. China has a high-power distance, collectivist culture and long-term orientation, while the US has low power distance, an individualistic culture and have a more short-term orientation (Hofstede, 2011). Through a RF arrangement, the supplier has more financial security. Especially in a collectivist culture, like the one in China, the supplier might experience the buyer's RF initiative as putting more effort into the relationship, essentially developing social capital (Abreu & Camarinha-Matos, 2010). In an individualistic culture, like the US, implementing RF might not lead to the accumulation of social capital and thus could weaken the relationship between RF and operating performance. This could mean US culture negatively affects the relationship between reverse factoring and performance.

This study aims to address the following problem: To what extent does reverse factoring affect operating performance of buying firms in the manufacturing industry in the US, and how does the relationship differ from the results in China?

The following research questions must be answered to provide an answer to the problem statement.

#### Theoretical research questions

*RQ1*: How can reverse factoring be defined and how do companies benefit from this service?*RQ2*: How does reverse factoring affect operating performance?*RQ3*: How does US culture influence the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance?

#### Practical research questions

*RQ4*: What is the effect of reverse factoring on the operating performance of manufacturers in the United States?

*RQ5*: How does the relationship between reverse factoring implementation and operating performance differ between the US and China?

This paper will examine these research questions using longitudinal archival data from 36 announcements of reverse factoring implementation made by publicly listed US manufacturing firms between 2014-2018. The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In chapter 2, the relevant literature is reviewed, and hypotheses are developed. In chapter 3, the data collection process and the event study method are elaborated on. In chapter 4, the results of the analysis of data are included. In

chapter 5, the findings are discussed, theoretical contributions are summarized and limitations and implications for future research are elaborated on.

## 2 Literature review

## 2.1 Origin of literature

One main literature stream informs this research, which is literature on the intersection between supply chain management and financial management. The main research area in this literature stream is financial supply chain management (Liebl et al., 2016). SCF can be localized within this area. The exact meaning of SCF is not always clear, as definitions change with the scope of SCF an author applies. There are two common scopes one can apply when defining SCF. In this research, reverse factoring, trade credit and fixed asset financing as additional SCF initiatives (Gelsomino, 2016; Zhang et al., 2019). This perspective is more common in academic literature as opposed to the second scope, where SCF is considered the same as reverse factoring, assuming a buyer-driven orientation (e.g., Kouvelis & Xu, 2021). Here SCF purely takes a 'financial perspective', thus focusing on financial product for companies in supply chains (Basu & Nair, 2012). This perspective was initially taken in the 1980s automotive industry (Zhang et al., 2019). Now, it is used by commercial sources, papers, and informative websites (Accounting Tools, 2021; Fernyhough & Evans, 2020). Because seeing RF as a subcategory is more common in academic literature is applied in this research.

## 2.2 Defining reverse factoring

Since 2005, RF has gained more attention in both literature and business practices (Klapper, 2006), but it is still young. In a reverse factoring arrangement, the buyer uses its own credit rating to give the supplier access to cash between delivery and execution of payment obligations. To do this, the buyer approaches a financial institution (or factor), such as a bank, or a factoring company, to provide these funds to the supplier (Grüter & Wuttke, 2017). The buyer can extend its own payment terms and gives the supplier more access to working capital by allowing them to receive their money early from the financial institution. Reverse factoring can be offered in two ways. Originally, reverse factoring was buyer-owned or bank-owned, but more recently it has moved towards an internet-based service model in the cloud (Serrano & Lekkakos, 2015). Reverse factoring is different from regular factoring because it is buyer-centric. Up until now, a number of studies have discussed the conditions under which RF is effective and ineffective. Tanrisever et al. (2012) found conditions under which RF is beneficial, such as when the spread in deadweight financing costs is high, or when the SME employs an aggressive working capital policy. Furthermore, the double benefit buyers and suppliers can get through reverse factoring depends heavily on market conditions, including interest rates (lacono et

al., 2015). Moreover, RF implementation only works if buyers pay on time. If a buyer fails to meet the obligations set in the agreement, the financial institution would be forced to drop out and the often relatively weak supplier would go under (Serrano & Lekkakos, 2015). RF also encourages a level of indebtedness between buyers and suppliers, and this brings risks for individual companies and economies. So, there are also numerous challenges involved in the implementation of reverse factoring.

#### 2.2.1 Benefits of reverse factoring

A company can benefit from implementing SCF in general through its multiple facilitating roles. First, its coordinating role, where SCF leads to improved collaboration, and integration of physical and information flows with the financial flow (Lee & Rhee, 2011; Zhang et al., 2019). Second, its stabilizing role, as SCF reduces risk in the supply chain and thus stabilizes the many processes that happen (Klapper, 2006). Third, its value-enhancing role, where the increased collaboration and reduced risk help a firm lower capital cost, and provide new opportunities for getting loans, which improves financial performance (Randall & Farris, 2009). These benefits are also embedded within and translated to reverse factoring. In general, benefits of reverse factoring include standardization of payment terms, improved supplier relations, more transparency, and fewer conflicts between actors (Seifert & Seifert, 2011). At the same time, all actors involved in reverse factoring implementation benefit from it differently.

First, the buyer extends payment terms and simultaneously improves the liquidity of suppliers by giving them the opportunity to get paid quickly by the financial institution and giving themselves a longer time to pay (Liebl et al., 2016). So, suppliers benefit by receiving money earlier and thus maintaining their level of working capital and liquidity. Klapper (2006) is among the first to provide an analysis of the benefits for suppliers of reverse factoring for financing SMEs. She explained how reverse factoring resolves some of the issues that arise from regular factoring, such as the limited profitability arising from it, a high degree of fraud, and capital shortages for suppliers (Klapper, 2006). Klapper (2006) elaborated that reverse factoring is especially beneficial for small to medium-sized suppliers, and one can develop relationships without taking on additional risk.

Financial institutions also benefit from reverse factoring. Buyers are usually investment grade companies and are highly involved, so financial institutions have better information and can release funds earlier and thus carry less risk and can charge lower interest rates (Seifert & Seifert, 2011).

Lastly, few benefits are discussed in the literature for buyers. Buyers mainly benefit from RF using it as a negotiation tool, to strengthen the relationship with their suppliers, and reduce supplier risks (Liebl, et al., 2016). Moreover, they extend their own payment terms, allowing them to pay later and thus maintain working capital. However, as Milne (2009) described, the collaborative spirit is not

always implemented, as some large corporations only introduced it as a 'sweetener' to the decision to move its payment terms to suppliers from 45 to 90 days. Companies like the one described here plan to extend their payment terms anyway, so offering reverse factoring is a 'take-it-or-leave-it' arrangement for suppliers.

Seifert & Seifert (2011) found some drawbacks of reverse factoring in their survey to both suppliers and buyers engaged in RF. Some respondents reported to having reduced credit availability, pressure to guarantee payments and some other minor drawbacks, but most executives of the sample reported no drawbacks to RF.

## 2.3 Prior research on reverse factoring and operating performance

This study focuses on the performance effects of reverse factoring, so here the related studies to this relationship are reviewed. There have been some studies were the effect of reverse factoring on performance was examined. Lekkakos & Serrano (2016) argued that many organizations face a shortage of funds to meet their daily operational requirements, which directly or indirectly influence performance. They found that reverse factoring does improve operating performance, but only found evidence for suppliers. Moreover, Marchi et al. (2020) found that reverse factoring can improve overall performance within the supply chain. Furthermore, SCF and especially, RF is a particular form of intra-chain collaboration (Tanrisever et al., 2012). Gronum et al. (2012) found that strong ties within supply chain networks, for example through RF, enhance organizational performance. Many of these studies, however, are not essentially focused on buyer firm operating performance or use empirical data. Therefore, the empirical evidence demonstrating the impact of reverse factoring on firm performance needs further exploration and presentation. In addition, very few studies (Shou et al., 2021) have used secondary data to examine the relationship between RF and operating performance.

Many studies focus on examining the changes in operating performance from several types of supply chain events. One study examined the effect of supply chain glitches on firm operating performance (Hendricks & Singhal, 2005). The focus was operating performance because efficiency, reliability and responsiveness, essential elements of operating performance, are key drivers of a firm's profitability. Another study looked at the difference between firm operating performance based on supply chain visibility (SCV) (Swift et al., 2019). They focused on operating performance by looking at profitability of the firm through cost efficiency and sales growth and argued this would give a better indication of the effect SCV has on operations of a firm. Lastly, a study examined the effect of supply chain finance initiatives on operating performance (Beka Be Nguema et al., 2022). They argued organizations do not want to adopt traditional financial credit rating perspectives but focus on performance characteristics such as operating performance. For the above mentioned reasons, this study will assess the effect of RF implementation on operating performance.

## 2.4 The relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance

Two different theories (i.e., social exchange theory and extended resource based view) are used in combination to explain the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance. The first relevant theory is the social exchange theory (SET). Social exchange theory is perceived through many different views, but all perspectives agree that it involves a series of interactions that generate obligations between actors (Emerson, 1976). In addition, it emphasizes that these transactions are interdependent on the actions of others and could generate high-quality relationships under certain circumstances (Cropanzano & Mitchell, 2005). As such, according to SET, attitudes and behaviours are determined by the rewards of interaction minus the penalty or cost of that interaction (Griffith et al., 2006). Relationships develop over time into trusting commitments, if partners follow certain rules of exchange, such as reciprocity, but also rules negotiated within a contract (Blau, 1964). This theory is based on the assumptions that humans seek rewards, avoid punishment, and deliberate and engage in a negotiation looking and expecting to gain maximum profit. These rewards could be of economic nature, in the form of monetary benefits, or of social nature, such as satisfaction (Blau, 1964). In the context of supply chain relationships, the supplier gives something to the buyer, a token of trust. Through this offering, the supplier forms an expectation to receive something in return, while the buyer develops a sense of obligation to reciprocate (Sprecher, 1998). Within supply chain relationships trust, commitment, reciprocity, and power are important social exchange issues that determine information sharing and collaboration (Wu et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2008; Hallen et al., 1991). Establishing a relationship between supply chain members can enhance information sharing and collaboration within the supply chain through these issues and improve overall chain performance.

The extended resource-based view is an extended version of the regular RBV of the firm developed by Barney (1991). Barney argued that firms can gain and hold a sustainable competitive advantage if they acquire and develop resources that are valuable, rare, inimitable, and not substitutable (VRIN criteria). The RBV holds that resources that create a competitive advantage must be confined by the firm's boundaries. Most definitions of resources, including the one by Barney, mention that resources are controlled by and tied to the firm, a single firm (Barney, 1991; Amit & Schoemaker, 1993). This proprietary assumption does not incorporate the possible benefit that could arise from the transfer of resources between alliance partners (Lavie, 2006). That is one of the reasons why the resource-based view had to be expanded. The ERBV was first explored by Lavie (2006) and is based on the notion that alliances or collaboration between partners gives the focal firm access to additional partnership resources that they can exploit (Lavie, 2006). When an alliance is formed, each firm shares resources with the other firm, expecting to generate common benefits from these shared resources (Lavie, 2006). Henderson & Cockburn (1994) found that the ability to access new knowledge

and resources outside organizational boundaries is important for enduring organizational success and competitive advantage. Strategic alliances are a way to obtain these critical external resources for many firms (Eisenhardt & Schoonhoven, 1996). The ERBV suggests that internal capabilities can help facilitate the exploitation of external resources, and thus could further enhance firm performance (Lewis et al., 2010). According to the relational view of strategic management, forming relational networks with other firms for mobilizing external resources can help in gaining a sustainable competitive advantage (Wong, 2011; Cheng, 2011).

Within supply chains, long-term relationships between actors increase efficiency and effectiveness (Choi & Hartley, 1996; Shin et al., 2000). From this relationship both buyers and suppliers receive financial benefits, but also benefits arising from social exchange. The adoption of reverse factoring creates strong partnerships that help improve commitment between supply chain members and improves collaboration which strengthens information sharing and communication. Many studies have applied SET to examine the relationships within a supply chain (Kwon & Suh, 2005; Wei et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2014). Reverse factoring in an example of the many types of relationships supply chain members can form with each other. Supply chain performance and individual firm performance are the ultimate goals for actors to engage in relationships with supply chain members (Tan et al., 2002). The profitable implementation of RF indicates the establishment of a relationship and requires transparency between supplier and buyer, effective information sharing and collaboration. According to SET, this relationship is formed and maintained because the partners offer reciprocal benefits to one another. Particularly, as an important form of SCF initiatives, RF is beneficial for enabling information exchange between buyers and their suppliers, thereby improving transparency of the financial process within the supply chain (Gelsomino et al., 2016). Through the adoption of RF, both parties benefit from the increased reciprocity and commitment, financial flows will be managed more efficiently by buying firms through increased visibility and control, and collaboration will be enhanced (Seifert & Seifert, 2011; Wuttke, et al., 2013). So, following the social exchange theory, these positive social exchanges that originate from reverse factoring adoption can help a buyer firm improve efficiency within its operations, and thus achieve superior operating performance.

Concerning eRBV, when a buyer firm initiates reverse factoring, they form a relational network with suppliers through information sharing, and thus obtain relational resources that are specific to that relationship (Klapper, 2006; Wang et al., 2020). When two actors enter an RF agreement, the relationship that is formed improve the reliability, cooperation, speed and ease of conducting operational aspects (Freiling, 2011). As such, reverse factoring can help buyers effectively collaborate with suppliers, lowering both buyer and supplier risk because of relational stability, and ensuring their suppliers gain additional working capital because of the relatively quick payment and can apply it more

effectively (Wuttke et al., 2013). This allows suppliers to make more risky investments and engage in innovation, through improving product processes for example, meaning suppliers will be able to create or develop resources that originate from the benefits of a reverse factoring partnership (van der Vliet et al., 2015; Lekkakos & Serrano, 2016). Buyers themselves also benefit from the collaboration and stability through an optimized cash flow, and, together with suppliers, from the development of relationship-specific resources (Wang et al., 2020; Wuttke et al., 2013). Relationshipspecific resources are rare, hard to imitate and non-substitutable, thus help both buyer and supplier gain a competitive advantage in the industry. Lastly, the quality and delivery time will be more consistent and dependable because of the accumulation of the relational network and trust between supplier and buyer. As such, supply chain members become more connected and dysfunctional conflicts are mitigated because of the newfound stability and cooperation in the relationship and the supply chain (Seifert & Seifert, 2011). While implementing RF, both the buyer and supplier share resources to reach a common goal, optimizing financial flows. Because of the relational stability the sharing of resources creates, the buyer and supplier form favorable supply chain linkages, increasing overall chain stability and transparent information sharing, which are valuable strategic resources originating from the relationship that can help a buying firm gain a competitive advantage (Yang et al., 2019). When a firm gains a competitive advantage, it controls relationship-specific resources that are hard to substitute and imitate for competitors, helping the firm to stand out, which can significantly improve firm performance (Lavie, 2006). In short, drawing on ERBV, this research argues that reverse factoring can help buyers obtain resources that are valuable, rare, inimitable and non-substitutable, enabling buyers to achieve competitive advantage and improving operating performance.

Hence, this research proposes that RF implementation leads to improved cost efficiency for buying firms. When implementing RF, buyers usually use payment term extensions (Tanrisever et al., 2012; lacono et al., 2015), because this optimizes their cash in- and outflows and liquidity needs. Buyers find value in extending payment terms through a reduction in financing costs and a reduction in supply chain disruptions (Grüter & Wuttke, 2017; Liebl et al., 2016). Reverse factoring can thus help buyers reduce capital costs. Second, a buyer can improve their negotiation position. As was explained previously, buyers that offer reverse factoring to their suppliers may also be in a better position to negotiate favourable commercial terms with those suppliers, like lower prices, because of the reciprocity that arises within a partnership (Liebl et al., 2016; Klapper, 2006). Third, a buyer firm can lower transaction costs. The close collaboration between buyer and supplier strengthens information sharing and communications between these two actors. Information asymmetry is reduced, and actors build trust, causing the buyer to not invest as much money in monitoring and controlling transaction, which results in lower transaction costs (Aviv, 2007; Klapper, 2006). Similarly, Corsten and

Felde (2005) found that on the demand side, collaboration with a supplier can create a sense of harmony that helps companies reduce procurement costs. This indicates that reverse factoring helps buyers reduce costs, thus contributing to their operating performance. That is why this research proposes that reverse factoring has a positive effect on cost efficiency.

## H1A: Reverse factoring has a positive effect on cost efficiency

Moreover, this research proposes that reverse factoring implementation leads to improved profitability for buying firms. Profitability can be accomplished through either increasing sales or decreasing costs. First, Chuk et al. (2021) found that firms that implement RF perform better on several accounting outcomes for firms linked to operating performance, such as higher ROA, higher profit margins, lower ROA volatility, and lower return volatility than firms that did not implement RF. Second, implementing RF can lead to increased revenues. Following SET, the relational benefits that arise from information sharing between supplier and buyer reinforce the connectedness between them and mitigates the risks and conflicts that can arise within the chain (Cheng, 2011). Lower conflicts and less risks between buyer and supplier help prevent disruptions of production and therefore buyers can maintain an elevated level of efficiency and reliable customer service, thus increasing their revenues. Third, Marchi et al. (2020) found through an economic lot size model that implementing reverse factoring within the supply chain improves economic performance, thus increasing revenues of the firm. Other than increasing revenues, in the discussion before it became clear the RF helps buying firms reduce costs, thus increasing overall profitability of the buyer firm. That is why this research proposes reverse factoring has a positive effect on profitability and the operating profit margin.

# H1B: Reverse factoring has a positive effect on profitability

H1C: Reverse factoring has a positive effect on operating profit margin



Figure 1: Conceptual model hypothesis 1

## 2.5 The influence of US culture on reverse factoring implementation

## 2.5.1 National culture

In addition to the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance, this study will assess the strength of this relationship by investigating it in a different culture. Up until now, there has been a lack of attention placed on the effect of macro-environmental factors on the relationship between reverse factoring and performance. For this study, Hofstede's definition of culture has been chosen due to its specific description. He defines culture as "the collective programming of the mind that distinguishes the members of one group or category of people from another" (Hofstede, 2001, p.9). Assessing a certain phenomenon within its own context is important because national cultures differ in their set of values, beliefs, ideas, attitudes, and morals, which guide the behaviour of individuals (Vitell et al., 1993). The differences in national culture translate to organizational cultures, thus affecting the management and operations of companies in different countries. Prior studies have examined the moderating impact of national culture on the relationship between supply chain collaboration and performance (Flynn et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2017), but not the differences that are present between intra-country collaborations or how specific national cultures might affect the collaboration itself. Wong et al. (2017) found that national cultures do significantly moderate the relationship between supply chain integration and operational performance. Furthermore, Zainuddin et al. (2020) found that national culture national culture dimension "individualism" negatively moderates the relationship between microfinance institutions and financial sustainability. It is important to examine the effect of national culture on the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance because national culture evidently moderates other relationships between supply chain events and performance, and it can help one determine whether the implementation is worthwhile in a particular culture.

#### 2.5.2 Prior research

Many recent studies focus on the relationship between RF and performance, of which some look at moderators concerning internal factors, such as innovation capability, environmental dynamism, and supply chain visibility (Shou et al., 2021; Nguema et al, 2021; Ali et al., 2020), but this study focuses on external factors, namely national culture. There are conflicting findings within the literature on this particular relationship, because those studies use different countries and different samples. So, this study will examine how the difference between macro environments might affect this relationship. Shou et al. (2021) examined changes in operating performance resulting from reverse factoring implementation in Chinese context using an event study method<sup>1</sup>. They found that within Chinese

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See appendix 2 for an overview of the results by Shou et al. (2021).

context, reverse factoring positively influenced operating performance. More specifically, they found that for the operating performance indicator "cost efficiency", the median abnormal cost efficiency performance is 0.019 and statistically significant (p < 0.1) from year t - 1 to t + 1. the sign test showed that 59.9% of the sample firms achieve positive abnormal change in cost efficiency (p < 0.05). In addition, for the operating performance indicator "profitability", the median abnormal profitability is 0.009 (p < 0.05) for the same year. In this year, 58.7% of the sample firms achieve positive abnormal performance of finding financial performance in profitability (p < 0.05). Considering the increasing importance of finding financial solutions and improving supply chain processes, it is necessary to conduct a systematic performance evaluation of implementation of a company's RF within a different context, because it is myopic to assume another culture will yield the same result.

#### 2.5.3 Individualism vs collectivism

This study applies replication through empirical generalization, replications that use data from a different population, but use the same research design as a previous study (Dau et al., 2022). Here this study evaluates the generalizability of the original study to a distinct cultural context. National cultures have many distinct characteristics. Many researchers have identified different constructs to measure national culture by. The best know are Hofstede's with up to six cultural dimensions, or the GLOBE survey with nine dimensions (Hofstede, 2011; House et al., 2004). Another often cited work is the theory of cultural value orientations created by Schwartz (1994). Hofstede's cultural dimensions are used most often to measure culture. Wang & Esqueda (2014) use Hofstede's dimensions to look at ADRs from emerging countries, to determine how culture affects capital structure decisions. In addition, Gleason et al. (2000) divided European countries into four clusters based on Hofstede's cultural characteristics, to look at how being part of a cluster affects the capital structure of retailers within those countries. Even though Hofstede's dimensions have been criticized (Wang & Esqueda, 2014), they are still very applicable to the study at hand to differ between Chinese and US culture.

Especially relevant and impactful in the field of operations management (OM) is the cultural trait individualism/collectivism (Hofstede, 2001). According to the Hofstede dimensions, the US is a country that scores low on power distance, high on individualism and is short-term oriented among other dimensions (Smith, 2021). On the other hand, China scores high on power distance, and long-term orientation, and low on individualism (Hofstede, 2011; Smith, 2021). In the study at hand, the individualism and collectivism difference will take precedence, because they are the most prevalent distinguishing factor between the US and China. This study proposes that in countries with an individualistic culture, such as the US, the individualism of a country weakens the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance. In its most extreme form, individualistic people consider dependency upon others as shameful. Independence is particularly important.

Movement in groups is a function of self-interest, and individual rights take precedence (Cohen & Avrahami, 2007). In individualistic cultures, companies view their collaborations and relationships from a calculative perspective. Collectivism within a culture, which is present in China, sees individuals as embedded within the group, while individualistic cultures are geared towards an individual's autonomy and independence (Power et al., 2010). There is quite some evidence that partnerships and trust are more prevalent and valuable in collectivist cultures.

#### 2.5.4 The negative influence of individualism

According to SET, if a buyer is devoted to building a relationship of reciprocity with suppliers and the other way around, by fulfilling each other's interests, both actors will be willing to make extra efforts to serve with transparency and collaborative behaviour as a means of reciprocity to their partner. First, Zhao et al. (2006) compiled a number of studies that explain how collectivism leads to an increased level of trust and shared vision in trading partner relationships in China (Armstrong & Yee, 2001; Wong et al., 2005). Second, Abe & Fitzgerald (1995) found through a historical analysis of growth in Japanese manufacturing capability (a collectivism. Third, Zhao et al. (2008) found that in the field of OM, collectivism is associated with a higher inclination for relationship commitment. All these studies have in common that within collectivist cultures, firms are more inclined to have close and effective collaboration and strong partnerships.

On the other hand, buying firms characterized by individualism are less likely to value high quality social exchanges or to involve suppliers the same way as firms in collectivist cultures do within a buyer-supplier relationship (Ketkar et al., 2012). Within individualistic cultures, buyers are less dependent on suppliers. This allows buyers to keep control, because suppliers have less control over buyer decisions (Provan & Skinner, 1989). In addition, trust is an important concept within the relationship a buyer establishes with its suppliers within reverse factoring implementation, as was elaborated on using SET. Individualist buyers are less likely to develop the same level of trust with suppliers as collectivist buyers do (Ketkar et al., 2012). Multiple studies have found that trust brings greater transparency in the buyer-supplier relationship, and important aspect of SCF practices (Dyer & Cho, 1998; Noorderhaven & Harzing, 2009), so within individualistic cultures the same result may not be achieved. Lastly, a supplier within an individualistic country may be reluctant to make investments specific to the relationship if they suspect that the commitment of the buyer is no sufficient (Sako et al., 1995).

The adoption of RF set within a country with a collectivist culture, as opposed to an individualistic culture, could be advantageous for the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance, because it facilitates the accumulation of trust, relationships, and strong

partnerships more, and thus increases visibility and control, lowering transaction costs, and improving efficiency within their operations. Within individualistic cultures this effect may not be as strong, because partnerships are established less quickly, and transparency and trust are less likely to be developed fully, so buyers and suppliers cannot reap the same benefits from the relationship as they would within a collectivist culture. Moreover, following the eRBV, even if suppliers gain higher levels of working capital, the supplier might not reciprocate, but could tap into their individualistic nature and approach other buyers to receive more benefits, thus nullifying the resources that can be gained through an effective relationship. So, looking at these main identifying characteristics of both China and the US, this research proposes that the US culture negatively influences, or weakens the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance based on its individualistic trait.

#### H2: US culture weakens the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance.

## 3 Methodology

## 3.1 The nature of the research

This research is explanatory by nature, as its main purpose is to explore why something occurs, and how it occurs. It includes research hypotheses that specify the nature and direction of the relationships between variables being studied (DeCarlo, 2018). The research makes use of deductive reasoning, as it tests both social exchange theory and transaction cost economic theory in a particular context and moves from broad generalizations of theoretical frameworks to the applicability of these frameworks to the relationship between reverse factoring and performance, a more specific observation (Johnson-Laird, 1999).

#### 3.2 Research strategy

To answer the practical research questions, this research is making use of archival data. Archival data, although it is not an immensely popular data source in SCM and there are many considerations to make during research, allows researchers to push the boundaries of existing knowledge. It could provide the ability to examine phenomena through panel and time series studies, on a much larger scale than primary data could provide (Miller et al., 2021). Archival data has been used often to examine financial changes that occur due to a specific phenomenon within a supply chain (Modi & Mabert, 2010; Liu et al., 2020). For this research, archival data is most appropriate, because the research question requires historical data by nature. In addition, archival data is easily accessible and more affordable compared to primary data (Vogt et al., 2012). Using primary data, for example through interviews or survey research, would be very time consuming and be less appropriate for the large population this research examines.

Two different elements are examined. One the one hand, as Shou et al. (2021) demonstrated, announcements of reverse factoring implementation are useful in assessing which companies between 2014-2018 engaged in reverse factoring. Where Shou et al. (2021) used Chinese databases, which were better suited to their research context, this research used American databases. This research examines announcements of reverse factoring implementation made by publicly listed US manufacturing firms (NAICS codes 31-33).

#### 3.2.1 Research design

To quantify the performance effect of reverse factoring, this study adopts a long-term event study method, outlined by Barber and Lyon (1996) to examine abnormal operating performance. The longterm event study method has been used often to examine the effect of supply chain events on stock returns (Lam et al., 2019), or on accounting measures such as sales growth and cost reduction (de Jong et al., 2014; Corbett et al., 2005). Short-term event studies are often applied when researchers assume the response to public information about a strategic event is quick and complete, based on the efficient market hypothesis (McWilliams & Siegel, 1997). Moreover, short-term event studies are usually seen as tests of market efficiency (Bremer et al., 2010). However, as Hendricks & Singhal (2001) demonstrated, short-term event study results can lead to erroneous conclusions. They found that, compared to a short-term event study method, their study did find significant results of abnormal performance while following a long-term event study method. In addition, a long-term event study is more appropriate because it attempts to assess the impact of events as changes in the financial figures of the firm, instead of focusing on the impact of latest information on the expectation of future returns (Bremer, et al., 2010). In addition, this study will examine the financial effect of a certain event. The event year is defined as the year when the sample firms implemented reverse factoring (year t). Year t - 1 is defined as the base year, or pre-implementation year, the year in which the financial information is free from reverse factoring impact. The abnormal performance changes are examined over the three years following the base year, so year t, t + 1 and t + 2. More specifically, this research examines the change in abnormal performance in multiple periods after implementation, for instance t to t+1 and t+1 to t+2, to assess if there is a long-term effect with any significant changes in years where RF was already introduced and could have had an effect on the performance of the companies. Barber & Lyon (1996) did a review of a number of studies that researched the impact of different corporate events on operating performance and suggest that there is no theoretical or empirical guidance on what the period should be for examining performance. This timeframe was chosen because academics in the past have used data of similar age (Shou et al., 2021; Barber & Lyon, 1996). This research examines periods starting from t-1, t and t+1, looking at the change in abnormal performance between a specific year and the year of comparison.

#### 3.3 Data collection

#### 3.3.1 Sampling method

The population includes all firms in the United States that operate within the manufacturing sector. The manufacturing sector was selected because financial performance here is predicted largely by the strength of long-term relationships and attention to the supply chain network, and operational performance by a company's strategy for hedging risk, two essential elements RF, making it easier to identify the financial and operational impact of RF implementation (Sengupta et al., 2006). To determine the sample of the research, a non-probability sampling method is used, or more specifically, purposive sampling. Purposive sampling is a method where the researcher seeks a sample for the study that produces the best cases to address the purpose and research questions (Kelly, 2010). This is the most appropriate form of sampling, because only specific firms that are part of the US manufacturing sector have implemented reverse factoring and are relevant and useful for this research. In addition, it is most common to use purposive sampling for research in this nature, because the research requires the sample to coincide with predetermined criteria of the research (Mason, 2002; Robinson, 2014).

#### 3.3.2 Data collection method

#### *Reverse factoring implementation*

Two methods are used in combination to find announcements of reverse factoring implementation. First, the Factiva database of Dow Jones is used to find the reverse factoring announcements made by publicly listed US firms. This database is a current international news databases produced by Dow Jones and provides access to over 32,000 major global newspapers, newswires, industry publications, and other sources with a focus on business news. It has been used in several studies for company announcements (e.g., Baghersad & Zobel, 2021; Lam et al., 2019). The search terms are "reverse factoring" (83 results), "supply chain financ\*" (2109 results), "factoring", "trade financ\*" (1872 results), "working capital financ\*" (972 results) and "accounts receivable financ\*" (1458 results). In addition, filters such as the date range 2014-2018, location (United States) and language (English and Dutch) are applied to filter out irrelevant or incomprehensible results. All results have been screened on repetition, relatedness to reverse factoring, manufacturing or non-manufacturing, and the clearness of the type of financing mentioned in the source. This resulted in 15 relevant announcements of reverse factoring, as most hits were company descriptions included in the articles.

The second method this research used is a search of Fortune 500 manufacturing firms together with the aforementioned terms on the website of the Wall Street Journal. The Wall Street Journal provides users with online coverage of breaking news and current headlines from the US and around the world. This method has been used by other studies (Hendricks & Singhal, 2005) and was

utilized because reverse factoring is not often announced with academic terms but mentioned using descriptive terms, so searching for terms in combination with company names should elevate this research. In addition, companies generally do not need to disclose supply-chain financing arrangements, and only 5% of non-financial companies disclose it on their financial statements (Maurer & Steinberg, 2021). So, using a search that utilizes more descriptive terms and a mainstream media source is a good approach. This method resulted in 21 announcements. So, in total, this research uses 36 announcements of or referrals to reverse factoring implementation. Some examples of the announcements and referrals are as follows:

- (1) In 2016, Intel set up a program within the online platform of supply-chain finance vendor C2FO, then invited suppliers around the world to sign up. (Source: Treasury & Risk)
- (2) Coca-Cola Co. has been working to better manage its payables through supply-chain financing. The company launched its program in 2014. (Source: WSJ)

## Measuring operating performance

The WRDS COMPUSTAT database was used to gather the financial data necessary to assess whether a performance effect was present. This database is a leading provider of financial and industry data, research, news, and analytics to all kinds of users. Compustat specifically provides standardized North American and global financial statement and market data of many publicly traded companies. This database has been widely used in earlier research (Baghersad & Zobel, 2021; Ali et al., 2009). Sample firms have been classified in different industries using the Orbis database and financial data is gathered from the pre-implementation year, or the base year, and three years after the base year. An

Performance indicator	Measurement	Reference
Cost efficiency ratio	Operating expenses as a percentage of total sales	Kotabe et al. (2002)
Return on assets (ROA)	Operating income / total assets	Orzes et al. (2017) Swift et al. (2019)
Operating profit margin	Operating income / total sales	Eilon (1992)
Table 1: Magsurament of perform	nance	

 Table 1: Measurement of performance

overview of how sample firms are distributed throughout different sectors and how announcements are divided over the years can be found in *appendix 1*. In table 1 three performance indicators are included, and the measurements of the indicators, as it is common in SCM literature to examine the performance effect through these indicators.

#### 3.4 Data analysis

As required by the event study method, to control for industry or macroeconomic factors that influence outcomes, 36 control firms have been selected that are matched to sample firms. A similar method to Shou et al (2021), Hendricks & Singhal (2005), and Lam et al. (2019) was used to determine the control firms. The control firms are from the same industry as the sample companies, similar in size and performance (cost efficiency) (Lam et al., 2019; Shou et al., 2021). As Banz (1981) reported, small firms have higher risk adjusted returns, while this is not the case for medium to large firms, indicating size does affect performance. This study controls for size because it wants to minimize the influence size has on the performance of sample firms. First, the COMPUSTAT database was used to gather financial information of firms with the same 4-digit NAICS codes. From this set of identified firms, the size (measured as the natural logarithm of total assets) and cost efficiency (see table 1) of each firm were calculated. After this, to calculate the size and performance difference, for every possible control firm the sample value (f.e. size) was subtracted from the control value and divided by the sample value. The same was done for cost efficiency (performance). The distance was calculated as follows:

$$Distance = \sqrt{SiD^2 + PD^2}$$

Here, SiD is the size difference for that particular option for a control firm, and PD is the performance difference. Lastly, the minimum value out of all distance values from the identified control possibilities was selected as the control firm. Moreover, as another requirement, the sales and total assets of the control forms had to be within a factor of three of the sales of the sample firms<sup>2</sup>. If no acceptable control firm could be selected, the first criteria was relaxed to the same 3-digit NAICS code. The distance between firm size and cost efficiency ranges from 0.017 to 0.200 with only two values outside this range (0.304 and 0.363), which is acceptable.

The abnormal change is performance of the sample firms is estimated in comparison with the control firms similarly to Orzes et al. (2017), namely as follows:

$$AP_{(t+j)} = PS_{(t+j)} - EP_{(t+j)}$$
$$EP_{(t+j)} = PS_{(t+i)} + (PC_{(t+j)} - PC_{(t+i)})$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> If the sample firm has sales of \$10 million, the control firms must have sales between \$3.33 million and \$30 million Hendricks & Singhal, 2005).

AP is the abnormal performance of the sample firms, PS is the actual performance of the sample firms, EP is the expected performance of the sample firms, PC is the actual performance of the control firms, t is the year of reverse factoring implementation, i is the starting year of comparison (i = -1, 0, 1) and j is the ending year of comparison (j = 0, 1, 2) (Shou et al. 2021).

Multiple statistical tests were considered to analyze the data. First, the one-sample t-test. The sample in this research is quite small, so the condition of normality, that the sample arises from a normally distributed sample, cannot be satisfied (Rochon et al., 2012). The condition of normality is one of the assumptions the parametric t-test relies on, so using the t-test would not be appropriate as the main test for this research. However, t-test results will be included to portray the mean of the samples across the years, because even if one cannot assume the data is sampled from a normal distribution, the t-test does provide a robust account of the population mean (Elsner & Jagger, 2013).

Second, the Wilcoxon-Signed Rank (WSR) test. Compared to a t-test, the WSR test is nonparametric, and compares the median of a sample to a hypothetical median (f.e. 0) (Rey & Neuhäuser, 2011). This test does not require one to make the normality assumption, and in the presence of outliers, the WSR test will less likely indicate spurious significance compared with the t-test (Elsner & Jagger, 2013). Other assumptions include that the sample needs to include dependent observations of the cases, the observations are independently drawn, measurements are continuous in theoretical nature, and the values should be of ordinal scale, which are all met by the current sample (King & Eckersley, 2019). That is why the WSR is one of the main statistical tests used in this research to analyze whether median abnormal operating performance is significantly different from zero.

Lastly, the sign test. The sign test is another nonparametric test that is quite simple and contains the least assumptions about the distribution (Sprent, 2011). Sample items should be independent, items are dichotomous, and the sample size is significantly less that the population size (Whitley & Ball, 2002). Even though the test contains a small number of assumptions, and it has very general applicability, the sign test is not used to assess if the percentage of positive abnormal operating performance is significantly different from 50%, because it lacks the statistical power of the WSR test (Whitley & Ball, 2002). So, the t-test and WSR test were used together, as is common in event study methods (Orzes et al., 2017; Shou et al., 2021). This study measures the significance of results conservatively by reporting two-tailed tests of significance. The results are reported in section 4.2. In addition, this study applies a post-hoc analysis, where the influence of reverse factoring on performance is further assessed by examining other performance indicators, sales growth and net operating working capital (section 4.4).

## 3.5 Influence of US culture on the relationship

The difference in performance due to cultural differences was examined by comparing the results of Shou et al. (2021) to the results of this study. A similar method, and the same statistical tests were used to increase the comparability between the two studies and increase the validity of the study. A comprehensive overview of the results of the study by Shou et al (2021) can be found in appendix 2. This overview is used to assess the possibility of a moderating effect of culture on the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance. The focus of the comparison is on the mean from the t-test and the median from the WSR test, but also the p-value to assess the strength of the pattern that is observed. The results of this comparative study can be found in section 4.3.

## 3.6 Validity and reliability

As a robustness check, to ensure reliability of the results, this research investigates multiple performance indicators for its main hypothesis, to see if results are consistent across similar indicators. Furthermore, this study uses reliable objective financial data, collected by WRDS directly from balance sheets. Especially after IFRS implementation, financial data collected from balance sheets increased significantly in reliability (Jianu & Jianu, 2021), making this a reliable source of data, and ensuring the reliability of this study. Moreover, WRDS Compustat has been used frequently in similar studies, as is mentioned above, ensuring its reliability. The factiva database is a complete database including many qualities news sources, such as the Wall Street Journal, containing direct accounts of business events all in one place. It has been used often to find company announcements and is considered a reliable source. As this study does not make use of survey research, or a case study method with interviews, response bias is not relevant, reducing the threat of reliability issues.

To ensure both internal and external validity, this study makes use of control groups matched based on size and performance as explained above. By making use of matched control pairs, the results will correspond more accurately to real properties and variations in the physical world, and all industry-wide events will be controlled for. This study further examines the external validity by comparing its results to a similar study executed in a different context, to make the findings more generalizable. It increases its internal validity by only examining manufacturing firms in a specific context, not including other industries.

## 4 Results

## 4.1 Descriptive statistics

An overview of the characteristics of sample and control firms can be found in *table 2*. Panel A presents the characteristics of the sample firms in the base year t - 1, including total assets, sales, operating

costs, operating income and the number of employees, and panel B presents the same characteristics of the control firms in the base year.

	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Panel A: The characteristics of sample firms				
Total assets (\$ Million)	69425.64	85948.72	45.98	376841.00
Sales (\$ Million)	63473.19	89336.69	14.04	482154.00
Operating costs (\$ Million)	53557.88	81400.57	35.47	452560.00
Operating income (\$ Million)	7154.35	10184.58	-110.71	48999.00
Number of employees (Thousands)	176.84	382.79	0.10	2300.00
Panel B: The characteristic of control firms				
Total assets (\$ Million)	43943.16	81834.28	119.33	446898.44
Sales (\$ Million)	37857.32	56719.75	96.78	274101.51
Operating costs (\$ Million)	33250,67	51991.03	92.59	24860.85
Operating income (\$ Million)	2936.80	3260.84	0.71	11553.00
Number of employees (Thousands)	91.38	134.88	0.40	572.80

 Table 2: Characteristics of sample and control firms

## 4.2 The effect of reverse factoring on performance

The event study results of the statistical tests performed on three operating performance indicators are shown in table 3. This study focuses on the periods where both the t-test and the nonparametric WSR test provide significant results, because the population sample size is small. The median is less susceptible than the average alone when analyzing small samples, and because this test makes fewer assumptions about the sample data (Barber & Lyon, 1996; De Jong et al., 2014; Hendricks & Singhal, 2005).

Hypothesis 1A stated that reverse factoring has a positive effect on cost efficiency. The results indicate that the abnormal changes in performance for the performance indicator "cost efficiency" are not statistically significant (p > 0.1) for both the pre- and post-implementation periods (year t-1 to t, t-1 to t+1, t-1 to t+2, t to t+1, t to t+2, and t+1 to t+2). This implies that reverse factoring does not significantly affect buyers' cost efficiency and shows that H1A is not supported.

Hypothesis 1B stated that reverse factoring has a positive effect on profitability. A similar result to cost efficiency was found for the pre-implementation period (year t-1 to t) and post-implementation periods (year t-1 to t+2, t to t+1, t to t+2 and t+1 to t+2) of the performance indicator "profitability" assessed through ROA. However, for the time period t-1 to t+1, the t-test shows that the mean abnormal performance is -0.0255 and statistically significant (p = 0.045), and the WSR test

shows that the median abnormal profitability performance is 0.0031 and statistically significant (p = 0.090). Since both the mean and median of abnormal performance in ROA are significantly different from zero, results are not due to chance. There is sufficient evidence to support the claim that the mean and median score in both tests were different from zero, so H1b is supported.

Period	Ν	AP mean	p-value	AP median	p-value
			(t-test)		(WSR)
Const offician and					
Cost efficiency	26	0.0466	0 4 2 7	0.0000	0.054
t-1 to t	36	-0.0166	0.137	-0.0028	0.354
t-1 to t+1	36	0.0280	0.122	0.0031	0.765
t-1 to t+2	36	-0.0072	0.353	0.0010	0.730
t to t+1	36	-0.0096	0.185	0.0005	0.982
t to t+2	36	0.0043	0.310	-0.0024	0.700
t+1 to t+2	36	0.0029	0.352	-0.0020	0.492
Profitability (ROA)					
t-1 to t	36	-0.0069	0.215	-0.0004	0.694
t-1 to t+1	36	-0.0255	0.045**	0.0031	0.090*
t-1 to t+2	36	0.0112	0.168	-0.0045	0.637
t to t+1	36	0.0034	0.323	0.0027	0.734
t to t+2	36	0.0155	0.079*	0.0053	0.124
t+1 to t+2	36	0.0094	0.108	0.0024	0.274
Operating profit margin					
t-1 to t	36	0.0212	0.092*	0.0027	0.120
t-1 to t+1	36	0.0484	0.063*	0.0282	0.043**
t-1 to t+2	35	0.0412	0.117	0.0084	0.334
t to t+1	36	0.0124	0.140	0.0006	0.637
t to t+2	35	0.0192	0.177	0.0077	0.190
t+1 to t+2	35	0.0067	0.286	0.0036	0.159

Note(s): \*p<0.1, \*\*p<0.05 All p-values are two-tailed. In some of the periods, the sample size is reduced because of missing values.

**Table 3**: Abnormal operating performance of sample firms.

Lastly, Hypothesis 1C stated that reverse factoring has a positive effect on the operating profit margin. The final performance indicator "operating profit margin" did not provide significant results in most periods (p > 0.1), except for year t-1 to t+1. As is visible in table 3, the abnormal performance mean for operating profit margin is 0.0484, and statistically significant (p = 0.063), and the AP median is 0.0282, and statistically significant (p = 0.043). Since both the mean and the median of the abnormal performance of the operating profit margin is significantly different from zero, the results are not due to chance. There is sufficient evidence to support the claim that the mean and median score in both tests were different from zero, so, H1c is supported.

## 4.3 The influence of US culture on the relationship

Compared to the study of Shou et al (2021), of which an overview can be found in appendix 2, this study found comparable results. The comparison only considers the performance indicators cost efficiency and ROA as profitability as these are the same performance indicators Shou et al. (2021) examined.

First, one main similarity between the two studies are the non-significant (p > 0.1) results for most periods (t-1 to t, t-1 to t+2, t to t+1, t to t+2, t+1 to t+2). This means that this study found no other effects in the long-term considering these performance indicators and only the period t-1 to t+1 has significant abnormal performance (see table 4). This similarity proves consistency across the two studies in the short-term effect of RF on performance.

Curre	nt study	Shou et	al. (2021)
AP median	p-value (WSR)	AP median	p-value (WSR)
-0.0028	0.354	0.005	0.250
0.0031	0.765	0.019	0.075*
0.0010	0.730	0.022	0.375
0.0005	0.982	0.000	0.418
-0.0024	0.700	0.016	0.186
-0.0020	0.492	0.004	0.696
-0.0004	0.694	0.006	0.225
0.0031	0.090*	0.009	0.039**
-0.0045	0.637	0.002	0.917
0.0027	0.734	0.001	0.316
0.0053	0.124	-0.000	0.769
0.0024	0.274	0.005	0.420
	Curren AP median -0.0028 0.0031 0.0010 0.0005 -0.0024 -0.0024 -0.0020 -0.0024 0.0031 -0.0045 0.0027 0.0053 0.0024	Current study           AP median         p-value (WSR)           -0.0028         0.354           -0.0031         0.765           0.0010         0.730           0.0005         0.982           -0.0024         0.700           -0.0020         0.492           -0.0010         0.694           0.0031         0.090*           -0.0045         0.637           0.0027         0.734           0.0053         0.124           0.0024         0.274	Current study         Shou et           AP median         p-value (WSR)         AP median           -0.0028         0.354         0.005           0.0031         0.765         0.019           0.0010         0.730         0.022           0.0005         0.982         0.000           -0.0024         0.700         0.016           -0.0020         0.492         0.004           -0.004         0.694         0.006           0.0031         0.090*         0.002           -0.0045         0.637         0.002           0.0027         0.734         0.001           0.0053         0.124         -0.000           0.0024         0.274         0.005

Note(s): \*p<0.1, \*\*p<0.05. all p-values are two-tailed.

 Table 4: WSR test results of the compared studies

A main point of comparison is the WSR test result in period t-1 to t+1, of which an overview can be found in table 5. Shou et al. (2021) found, similar to this study, a statistically significant result through the WSR test for this period (AP median profitability = 0.009, p = 0.039). The current study found a statistically significant AP median of 0.0031 (p = 0.090). This means that in both contexts, the median is significantly different from zero and results are not due to chance. In addition, concerning this period, the AP mean for profitability was significantly different from 0 in the current study, namely -0.0255 (p = 0.045), lower than the AP mean of Shou et al. (2021), which is 0.013 (p = 0.085).

Period t-1 to t+1 (ROA)	AP mean	p-value (t-test)	AP median	p-value (WSR)
Current study	-0.0255	0.045**	0.0031	0.090*
Shou et al. (2021)	0.013	0.085*	0.009	0.039**

Table 5: comparison of period t-1 to t+1 for performance indicator "profitability" (ROA)

Both the mean and median of this performance indicator are lower than the findings from Shou et al (2021), meaning that on average, the AP of sample firms' ROA lies lower, and, considering the median this means that in the current study, half the sample has values that are relatively lower than the sample of Shou et al. (2021). In addition, the p-value of the WSR test for ROA in this period is lower in Shou et al.'s (2021) sample, compared to the current study, meaning that the statistical significance of the observed abnormal performance in China is is stronger, and the observed pattern is stronger and clearer in Shou et al.'s context. Considering other time periods with non-significant results, the AP medians for profitability were lower in most periods (year t-1 to t, t-1 to t+2, and t+1 to t+2).

Period t-1 to t+1 (cost efficiency)	AP mean	p-value (t-test)	AP median	p-value (WSR)
Current study	0.0280	0.122	0.0031	0.765
Shou et al. (2021)	-0.001	0.963	0.019	0.075*

 Table 6: comparison of period t-1 to t+1 for performance indicator "cost efficiency"

Moreover, as can be seen in table 6, there is a stark difference in results for the performance indicator cost efficiency. While Shou et al. (2021) found statistically significant results for period t-1 to t+1 (AP median: 0.019, p = 0.075), this study found no significant results for this performance indicator, indicating reverse factoring does not significantly affect cost efficiency in this context (see table 6).

The results imply that the strength of the relationship between reverse factoring and performance is weaker for this study's sample in this particular context compared to Shou et al.'s result. This means that there is a negative effect of US culture on the relationship between reverse factoring and operating performance, so hypothesis 2 is supported.

## 4.4 Post-hoc tests

This study performed a set of post-hoc tests to examine the performance effect of reverse factoring concerning other performance indicators, more distantly related to operating performance, but intricately linked to reverse factoring. One of the two performance indicators is net operating working

capital. This performance indicator is relevant because it directly measures a company's liquidity and operational efficiency within its supply chain (Caniato et al., 2016). This study measures net operating working capital, similar to other studies (Ross et al., 2005), as follows:

 $net operating working capital = \frac{current assets - current liabilities}{total assets}$ 

As can be seen in table 7, for year t+1 to t+2, the AP median is 0.0167 and statistically significant (p = 0.095). This means that, in this period the median of abnormal performance for net operating working capital is significantly different from zero and not due to chance. Moreover, compared to other performance indicators examined before, reverse factoring has a significant effect on abnormal

Period	Ν	AP mean	p-value	AP	p-value
			(t-test)	median	(WSR)
Operating working capital					
t-1 to t	34	-0.0166	0.191	-0.0047	0.590
t-1 to t+1	34	-0.0107	0.280	0.0129	0.912
t-1 to t+2	32	0.0191	0.241	0.0158	0.614
t to t+1	35	0.0047	0.404	-0.0014	0.600
t to t+2	33	0.0221	0.232	0.0115	0.386
t+1 to t+2	33	0.0270	0.175	0.0167	0.095*
Sales growth					
t-1 to t	34	0.0989	0.205	0.0127	0.713
t-1 to t+1	34	-0.0084	0.434	-0.0122	0.626
t-1 to t+2	33	0.0085	0.458	0.0490	0.339
t to t+1	36	-0.1017	0.120	-0.0385	0.267
t to t+2	36	-0.0940	0.141	0.0038	0.814
t+1 to t+2	36	-0.0116	0.413	0.0245	0.551
		C.1 1			<i>c</i>

Note(s): \*p<0.1, \*\*p<0.05 All p-values are two-tailed. In some of the periods, the sample size is reduced because of missing values.

 Table 7: Post-hoc analysis results of abnormal performance of sample firms

performance of net operating working capital of buyers in the long-term (t+1 to t+2) instead of the relatively short-term (t-1 to t+1), only measuring an effect two years after implementation.

In addition, sales growth is also an important performance indicator, especially concerning performance within the market. Sales growth is measured through the sales growth ratio, the annual rate of change in sales (Swift et al., 2019). As is shown in table 7, the abnormal performance in sales growth is not statistically significant for any of the periods (p > 0.1), implying that reverse factoring does not significantly affect buyers' sales growth.

## 5 Discussion

## 5.1 Theoretical contributions

This study analyzes the impact of reverse factoring implementation on buyers' operating performance and examines the possibility of a moderating effect of US culture, with a focus on individualism, on this relationship. From the results reported in the previous section, several main conclusions can be derived. First, the results of this study indicate that reverse factoring has a positive effect in buyers' operating performance in terms of profitability and operating profit margin. This provides empirical support for the extant literature which postulated that reverse factoring implementation leads to improved performance for buying firms (Shou et al., 2021; Marchi et al., 2020). More specifically, it shows that buying firms can improve their profitability and operating profit margin by implementing reverse factoring. This study thus offers additional insights on the impact of reverse factoring on buyer firm performance. It also sustains the hypothesis, grounded in social exchange theory and the extended resource-based view, that the transparency, effective information sharing and collaboration with suppliers and financial institutions acquired through reverse factoring and the competitive advantage that originates from relational resources formed in the partnership do improve performance of buying firms. There is still a limited number of empirical studies that have examined the association between reverse factoring and operating performance, and this study contributes to the arguments of several previous studies on the positive performance effect of RF (van der Vliet et al., 2015; Beka Be Nguema, 2022; Bi et al., 2022; Liebl et al., 2016). So, this study greatly advances the knowledge about RF.

Interestingly, no effect was found for cost efficiency. the cause of this interesting finding could lie in operating costs. Throughout an SCF program, companies may face different costs in the different implementation stages because it has to invest many resources. On the one hand, costs could go up through inefficient use and unsuccessful application, as was speculated by Bozani et al. (2018). In addition, implementing RF consists of planning costs and implementation costs. As Seifert & Seifert (2011) highlighted in their research, the selection process of the provider, the financial institution, takes some time. Especially in choosing the platform, for example a cloud solution provided by a SCF provider, or a platform owned by the bank, takes time and builds up significant scouting costs. Moreover, there are significant implementation costs. De Boer et al. (2015) found that one of the main drawbacks of RF is the on-boarding process of suppliers, as it takes time and resources to educate and convince suppliers of the solution. Additional operating costs that are acquired in the process include training costs of staff, as employees have to be aware of RF and its workings (Zhang et al., 2019). All these additional costs could have significantly increased operating costs that, combined with total sales, determine cost efficiency (Kotabe et al., 2002). The increase in operating costs could explain that reverse factoring is not positively related to cost efficiency. That RF does have a positive effect on profitability, and total sales as well, could be explained by the fact that profitability is not only determined by the operating costs of a company, but also through the general economic performance that is improved through reverse factoring implementation (Marchi et al., 2020; Chuk et al., 2021).

An additional explanation could be found in the methodology. While a similar methodology was used compared to similar studies (Shou et al., 2021), the sample size was significantly lower. This was mostly caused by specific characteristics of the population, namely that firms within the US are currently not required to disclose supply-chain financing arrangements in their financial filings (Maurer & Steinberg, 2021). This presented this study with a challenge in finding RF implementation announcements and caused the lower sample size, increasing the margin of error and reducing the chance of detecting a true effect (Button et al., 2013).

Second, the cultural comparison between China, a collectivist culture, and the United States, an individualistic culture, shows that the relationship between RF and operating performance within in US context is still positive, but it is weaker than in China. This provides some tentative evidence that US culture, characterized by individualism and other cultural traits, is less accommodating towards reverse factoring implementation, while a collectivist culture like China facilitates a stronger effect. The comparison revealed that the results of the tests are consistently non-significant in most periods, and the effect of RF on performance has a short-term positive effect in both contexts, proving that the RF effect is fixed across the different contexts. However, the effect was weaker in the US. This provides this research with enough evidence to suggest moderation of US culture, however, future research would be necessary to examine this concretely and statistically. The comparison also satisfies the need to assess the effect of reverse factoring in different contexts, to see if the hypotheses proposed by Shou et al. (2021) hold. These findings are particularly relevant since, to the best of this study's knowledge, the possibility of a moderating effect of national culture on the relationship between RF and firm performance has not been studied previously. A main difference that was identified was the presence of an effect of reverse factoring on cost efficiency in the study by Shou et al. (2021), but no effect in the current study. It is interesting that an effect was found in China as compared to the US. An explanation could be found in the individualism and its relation to the increased operating costs. As was explained before, increased operating costs can arise because of planning and implementation costs associated with RF. Earlier it was discussed that US culture, especially individualism within this culture, the benefits that arise through social relationships and partnerships with other actors can have been less prevalent because of the specific context, in this case individualism (Ketkar et al., 2012; Sako et al., 1995). Possibly, opposing Aviv's (2007) argument,

because buyers and suppliers are not fully transparent and trustful, information asymmetry will not be reduced and the buyer will still invest money in monitoring and controlling the transaction, thus not lowering transaction costs significantly (Dyer & Chu, 2003). Not fully trusting your partner could lead to higher transaction costs of picking and monitoring that strategic partner, resulting in higher operating costs. This could explain why reverse factoring does not positively affect cost efficiency in US context, but it does in Chinese context. Other performance indicators could remain unaffected, because operating costs could remain high even when the buyer starts receiving and noticing benefits from the arrangement in profits (for example through an increase in sales).

An additional explanation for these findings can be found in the type of economy both countries have. Considering the specificity of the US context in this study, the potential impact of the US context is discussed further. As was identified in the findings, the results of the sample within US culture are not as strong as Shou et al. 's (2021) results in Chinese culture. As Shou et al. (2021) identified in their research, China is an emerging economy, where SMEs often suffer from "financial issues such as the limited capacity of credit rating and the under-developed credit guarantee system, which results in financing difficulty" (Shou et al., 2021, p. 307). They argue that a financial solution such as SCF and RF could be important for firms in these economies because it can help mitigate these problems. This research found tentative evidence the effect is weaker in US culture; thus, it adds additional evidence to the argument that the effect of RF is more salient in emerging economies like China compared to developed economies like the US.

Third, the results from the post-hoc analysis reveal that RF improves buying firms' net operating working capital, a cash-based performance indicator, on a longer term (t+1 to t+2, two years after implementation). This finding implies that reverse factoring plays a significant role in helping buying firms secure financial resources in the long run. This is in line with the arguments presented by Liebl et al. (2016) and Grüter and Wuttke (2017), that buyers extend their own payment terms, allowing them to pay later, benefit from reduced costs of capital, reduced net liquidity needs and maintain and increase their net operating working capital. That the effect is only present after 2 years in interesting. Dello lacono et al. (2015) argued that for a buyer, the benefit of a reverse factoring arrangement is the gradual reduction of working capital costs. Considering the current market conditions, the technological base of an RF arrangement and the required investments in the complete adoption process place a significant burden on the arrangement, because market conditions can change (Dello lacono, 2015). Benefits inherent to RF can occur at any point in the process, so this could potentially explain the long-term effect observed in net operating working capital for the buyer firm.

Interestingly, the results of the post-hoc analysis suggest that reverse factoring does not affect buyers' sales growth. This supports the previous argument that relationships formed through reverse factoring implementation may not be as strong and open within the context of this study, an individualistic culture. Following ERBV, because those relationships are not fulfilled, it may not enable buying firms to utilize the relational resources that originate from the hypothesized high-quality relationships to the fullest, concluding that it mitigates the effect of buying firms' development of high-quality products for customers, not fully enhancing customer satisfaction and revenues, and causing sales growth to stall (Cheng, 2011).

This study contributes to RF and SCF literature by incorporating SET and ERBV theoretical perspectives to explain the relationship between RF and operating performance. The application of SET and ERBV in combination in this field is very scarce. On the one HANDSET suggests that the benefits that arise from collaboration, reciprocity and transparency between the buyer and suppliers in a reverse factoring arrangement help a buyer firm improve their performance, by lowering costs (e.g., transaction costs) and increasing efficiency within operations (Kwon & Suh, 2005; Gelsomino et al., 2016; Wuttke et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2014). Hence, SET provides a useful theoretical lens through which the effect of RF on operating performance can be understood. On the other hand, ERBV suggests that firms can gain a competitive advantage and achieve superior performance through the exchange and receival of external resources within a relational network, and the favorable supply chain linkages and increased stability that follow, which arise when reverse factoring in implemented (Lavie, 2006; Henderson & Cockburn, 1994). Hence, ERBV provides an additional theoretical lens to further understand the relationship.

#### 5.2 Managerial implications

This research was aimed to provide deeper understanding of the impact of the relationship between reverse factoring and performance. It provides some new important implications for operations and supply chain managers. The results provide evidence that there is a positive effect of RF on operating performance, especially profitability and the operating profit margin. Firms can use these findings as an additional argument to implement reverse factoring in their business, and helps managers decide whether to invest resources in the development of a reverse factoring program by removing some lingering doubt about this practice. Moreover, it provides evidence that firms can gain a competitive advantage and significant social relationship benefits through implementation of RF. As Dello Iacono et al. (2015) already introduced, it also highlights the importance of transparency and trust in a RF relationship, as one can best introduce a reverse factoring arrangement when the benefits can be sustained as far as possible, not only when all participants can benefit.

Furthermore, the results of this research contribute to the generalizability of the effect to the population, because in this research a positive effect was found between RF and performance in US context, which adds to the equivalent results found in other research (Shou et al., 2021). Managers can use this information to be more confident in choosing to implement RF in multiple different contexts. This research provides tentative evidence that collectivist cultures are more suitable for RF implementation, in terms of profitability and cost efficiency. However, companies within individualistic cultures also benefit from RF because there is still a positive relationship between RF and profitability, as this research explained. If companies within individualistic cultures wish to implement RF, they have to consider that, at least in the first years, operating costs will be higher because they have to put considerable time and resources in the selection of the partner firm(s), and implementation and overseeing of RF, as trust and reciprocity are harder to come by. However, managers should not forgo RF just for this, as there are still significant benefits in terms of increased ROA and an improved operating profit margin. To successfully deal with this, managers should try to maintain a strong relationship with their suppliers and keep investing resources in and sharing them with suppliers, to make sure RF remains a beneficial arrangement for all parties involved.

#### 5.3 Limitations and future research directions

This study does contain several limitations. First, this study is based on data gathered from publicly traded manufacturing firms in the United States. While the generalizability of the findings across countries has been improved by replicating Shou et al.'s (2021) research design in another context, this still limits the generalizability of the results to other sectors, such as the service sector, and private firms. Future research could examine the effect of reverse factoring on performance in service firms, or a case study approach could be applied to examine the effect within private firms. Second, this study provides a comparative account of two distinct cultures focusing on only one opposing cultural aspect of both China and the US. While this study found some evidence that US culture potentially negatively moderates the relationship between RF and operating performance, it has not been examined using statistical tests, using control variables. Future research could examine this more rigorously using statistical tests and controlling for additional factors, to see if individualism actually affects the relationship as was argued in the current study, or if there is no negative moderation or an influence from another cultural characteristic of the US. Third, one unique control firm was selected per sample firm based on size and performance (cost efficiency). A limitation that arises from this is that the distance between matched pairs could be different for each sample firm. To better control for possible industry-wide events that could influence the results, a minimum of three control firms per sample firm could be applied, as is common in other research (Orzes et al., 2017). Fourth, because of the study's limited sample size, it undertakes several sets of tests suitable for small samples, which

could affect the robustness of the results. If more samples can be obtained, some issues in this study still deserve further analysis. Fifth, the event study period ranged from t-1 to t+2. This did not allow this study to assess whether reverse factoring implementation has positive effects in the longer run (e.g., t+3, t+4, t+5).

Future research is needed to overcome these limitations and more generally shed further light on the effect RF on operating performance, as this is one of the very few studies that examines this phenomenon using archival data. Another future research opportunity lies in considering moderators (e.g., production and innovation capabilities, as were examined by Shou et al. (2021)) and further control variables (e.g., firm age, financial leverage, industry size) that were not considered in this study. Future research could also consider the use of alternative methods to compare different findings. Lastly, future research could examine this phenomenon in other contexts, like Europe, to further increase generalizability of the results.

## 6 Bibliography

- Abe, E., & Fitzgerald, R. (1995). Japanese economic success: timing, culture, and organisational capability. *Business History*, *37*(2), 1-31. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00076799500000053
- Abreu, A., & Camarinha-Matos, L. (2010). Understanding Social Capital in Collaborative Networks. In
   A. Ortiz, R. Franco, & P. Gasquet, *Balanced Automation Systems for Future Manufacturing Networks* (Vol. 322, pp. 109-118). Berlin: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14341-0\_13
- AccountingTools. (2021, October 2). *Reverse Factoring definition*. Retrieved from AccountingTools: https://www.accountingtools.com/articles/what-is-reverse-factoring.html
- Ali, A., Klasa, S., & Yeung, E. (2009). The Limitations of Industry Concentration Measures Constructed with Compustat Data: Implications for Finance Research. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 22(10), 3839-3871. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhn103
- Ali, Z., Gongbing, B., & Mehreen, A. (2020). Predicting firm performance through supply chain finance: a moderated and mediated model link. *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, 23(2), 121-138.
- Amit, R., & Schoemaker, P. (1993). Strategic assets and organizational rent. *Strategic Management Journal*, *14*(1), 33-46. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250140105
- Armstrong, R., & Yee, S. (2001). Do Chinese trust Chinese? A study of Chinese buyers and sellers in Malaysia. *Journal of International Marketing*, 9(3), 63-86. doi:https://doi.org/10.1509/jimk.9.3.63.19925
- Aviv, Y. (2007). On the benefits of collaborative forecasting partnerships between retailers and manufacturers. *Management Science*, 53(5), 777-794.
- Baghersad, M., & Zobel, W. (2021). Assessing the extended impacts of supply chain disruptions on firms: an empirical study. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 231, 107862. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107862
- Banz, R. (1981). The Relationship between Return and Market Value of Common Stocks. *Journal of Financial Economics, 9*, 3-18.
- Barber, B., & Lyon, J. (1996). Detecting abnormal operating performance; The empirical power and specification of test statistics. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *41*(3), 359-399.
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99-120.
- Basquill, J. (2020, October 19). Supply chain finance in the time of Covid. Retrieved from Global Trade Review: https://www.gtreview.com/magazine/volume-18-issue-4/supply-chain-financetime-covid/
- Basu, P., & Nair, S. (2012). Supply Chain Finance enabled early pay: unlocking trapped value in B2B logistics. *International Journal of Logisitcs Systems and Management, 12*(3), 334-353.
- Beka Be Nguema, J.-N., Bi, G., Akenroye, T., & El Baz, J. (2022). The effects of supply chain finance on organizational performance: a moderated and mediated model. *Supply Chain Management,*

27(1), 113-127. doi:https://doi-org.tilburguniversity.idm.oclc.org/10.1108/SCM-05-2020-0223

- Bi, Z., Yang, F., & Nguema, J.-N. B. (2022). Does supply chain finance adoption improve organizational performance? A moderated and mediated model. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 37*(3), 673-685. doi:10.1108/JBIM-05-2020-0228
- Blau, P. (1964). Exchange and Power in Social Life. New York City, NY: Wiley.
- Bonzani, A., Caniato, F., & Moretto, A. (2018). Costs and benefits of Supply Chain Finance solutions: is it always worth it? Milan: The Supply Chain Finance Essential Knowledge Series. Retrieved from https://re.public.polimi.it/retrieve/handle/11311/1120090/464861/Bonzani%20et%20Al.%2 02018.pdf
- Bremer, R., Buchanan, B., & English II, P. (2011). The advantages of using quarterly returns for longterm event studies. *Review of Quantitiative Finance and Accounting*, 36, 491-516. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11156-010-0191-2
- Button, K. S., Ioannidis, J. P., Mokrusz, C., Nosek, B. A., Flint, J., Robinson, E. S., & Munafo, M. R.
   (2013). Power failure: why small sample size undermines the reliability of neuroscience.
   Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 14, 365-376. doi:https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3475
- Calantone, R., & Vickery, S. (2010). Introduction to the special topic forum: using archival and secondary data sources in supply chain management research. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *46*(4), 3-11.
- Caniato, F., Gelsomino, L., Perego, A., & Ronchi, S. (2016). Does finance solve the supply chain financing problem? *Supply Chain Management*, *21*(5), 534-549. doi:https://doi-org.tilburguniversity.idm.oclc.org/10.1108/SCM-11-2015-0436
- Chan, H., & Chan, F. (2009). Effect of Information Sharing in Supply Chains with Flexibility. International Journal of Production Research, 47(1), 213-232. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00207540600767764
- Cheng, J.-H. (2011). Inter-organizational relationships and information sharing in supply chains. *International Journal of Information Management, 31*(4), 374-384. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.09.004
- Choi, T., & Hartley, J. (1996). An exploration of supplier selection practices across the supply chain. *Journal of Operations Management, 14*(4), 333-343.
- Chuk, E., Lourie, B., & Yoo, I. (2021, July 22). *The determinants and consequences of reverse factoring: Early evidence from the UK*. Retrieved from SSRN: https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3890547
- Cohen, A., & Avrahami, A. (2007). The Relationship between Individualism, Collectivism, the Perception of Justice, Demographic Characteristics and Organisational Citizenship Behaviour. *The Service Industries Journal, 26*(8), 889-901. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/02642060601011707
- Corbett, C., Montes-Sancho, M., & Kirsch, D. (2005). The Financial Impact of ISO 9000 Certification in the United States: An Empirical Analysis. *Management Science*, *51*(7), 1046-1059. doi:10.1287/mnsc.1040.0358

- Core, J., Guay, W., & Rusticus, T. (2006). Does Weak Governance Cause Weak Stock Returns? An Examination of Firm Operating Performance and Investors'Expectations. *The Journal of Finance*, *61*(2), 655-687.
- Corsten, D., & Felde, J. (2005). Exploring the performance effects of key-supplier collaboration: an empirical investigation into Swiss buyer-supplier relationships. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, *35*(6), 445-461.
- Cropanzano, R., & Mitchell, M. (2005). Social Exchange Theory: An Interdisciplinary Review. *Journal* of Management, 31(6), 874-900. doi:10.1177/0149206305279602
- Dau, L., Santangelo, G., & van Witteloostuijn, A. (2022). Replication studies in international business. *Journal of International Business Studies, 53*, 215-230.
- de Boer, R., van Bergen, M., & Steeman, M. A. (2015). SCF, its Practical Relevance and Strategic Value. Zwolle: The SCF Essential Knowledge Series. doi:https://www.researchgate.net/publication/295686999\_Supply\_Chain\_Finance\_its\_Pract ical\_Relevance\_and\_Strategic\_Value
- de Jong, P., Paulraj, A., & Blome, C. (2014). The Financial Impact of ISO 14001 Certification: Top-Line, Bottom-Line, or Both? *Journal of Business Ethics, 119*, 131-149. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1604-z
- DeCarlo, M. (2018). 7.1 Types of research. In M. DeCarlo, *Scientific Inquiry in Social Work*. Open Social Work Education.
- Dyer, J. H., & Chu, W. (2003). The Role of Trustworthiness in Reducing Transaction Costs and Improving Performance: Empirical Evidence from the United States, Japan, and Korea. *Organization Science*, 14(1), 57-68. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/3086033
- Dyer, J., Cho, D., & Chu, W. (1998). Strategic supplier segmentation: The next 'best practice' in supply chain management. *California Management Review*, 40(1), 57-77.
- Eilon, S. (1992). Key ratios for corporate performance. *Omega, 20*(3), 337-343. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0483(92)90038-9
- Eisenhardt, K., & Schoonhoven, C. (1996). Resource-Based View of Strategic Alliance Formation: Strategic and Social Effects in Entrepreneurial Firms. *Organization Science*, 7(2), 136-150. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/2634977
- Elsner, J. B., & Jagger, T. H. (2013). *Hurricane Climatology: A Modern Statistical Guide Using R.* New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Emerson, R. (1976). Social exchange theory. *Annual Review of Sociology, 2*, 335-362. doi:https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.so.02.080176.002003
- Euro-Banking-Association. (2014, June). Supply Chain Fincance: EBA European market guide. Retrieved from EBA: https://www.abe-eba.eu/media/azure/production/1544/eba-marketguide-on-supply-chain-finance-version-20.pdf
- Fernyhough, J., & Evans, S. (2020, January 30). Telstra follows Rio in scrapping reverse factoring. Retrieved from Financial Review: https://www.afr.com/companies/telecommunications/telstra-follows-rio-in-scrapping-reverse-factoring-20200130-p53wa2

- Flynn, B., Huo, B., & Zhao, X. (2010). The impact of supply chain integration on performance: a contingency and configuration approach. *Journal of Operations Management, 28*(1), 58-71.
- Freiling, J. (2011, July 4). Relationships as Resources: Implications of the Resource-Based View. Retrieved from The University of Manchester Library: https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/api/datastream?publicationPid=uk-ac-manscw:2n613&datastreamId=FULL-TEXT.PDF
- Gelsomino, L., Mangiaracina, R., Perego, A., & Tumino, A. (2016). Supply chain finance: a literature review. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 46*(4). doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-08-2014-0173
- Griffith, D., Harvey, M., & Lusch, R. (2006). Social exchange in supply chain relationships: The resulting benefits of procedural and distributive justice. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24(2), 85-98. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2005.03.003
- Gronum, S., Verreynne, M., & Kastelle, T. (2012). The role of networks in small and medium-sized enterprise innovation and firm performance. *Journal of Small Business Management, 50*(2), 257-282.
- Grüter, R., & Wuttke, D. (2017). Option matters: valuing reverse factoring. *International Journal of Production Research, 55*(22), 6608-6623. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1330564
- Hallen, L., Johanson, J., & Seyed-Mohammed, N. (1991). Interfirm adaptation in business relationships. *Journal of Marketing*, *55*(2), 29-37.
- Henderson, R., & Cockburn, I. (1994). Measuring Competence? Exploring firm effects in pharmaceutical research. *Strategic Management Journal, S1*, 63-84. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250150906
- Hendricks, K. B., & Signhal, V. R. (2001). The Long-Run Stock Price Performance of Firms with Effective TQM Programs. *Management Science*, *47*, 359-368.
- Hendricks, K., & Singhal, V. (2005). Association between Supply Chain Glitches and Operating Performance. *Management Science*, 51(5), 695-711. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/20110367
- Hofmann, E., Strewe, U., & Bosia, N. (2018). Background I WHat is Buyer-Led Supply Chain Finance? In Supply Chain Finance and Blockchain Technology: The Case of Reverse Securitisation (1 ed.). Springer, Cham. doi:https://doi-org.tilburguniversity.idm.oclc.org/10.1007/978-3-319-62371-9
- Hofstede, G. (2001). *Culture's Consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions, and organizations across nations* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Hofstede, G. (2011). Dimensionalizing Cultures: The Hofstede Model in Context. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture, Unit 2, 2*(1). Retrieved from http://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/orpc/vol2/iss1/8
- House, R., Hanges, P., Javidan, M., Dorfman, P., & Gupta, V. (2004). *Culture, Leadership, and Organizations: The GLOBE Study of 62 Societies.* Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications, Inc.

- Iacono, U., Reindorp, M., & Dellaert, N. (2015). Market adoption of reverse factoring. International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 45(3), 286-308. doi:10.1108/IJPDLM-10-2013-0258
- Jiang, W., & Liu, J. (2018). Inventory Financing with overconfident Supplier Based on Supply Chain Contract. *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 1-12. doi:https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/5054387
- Jianu, I., & Jianu, I. (2021). Reliability of Financial Information from the Perspective of Benford's Law. Entropy, 23(5), 557. doi:10.3390/e23050557
- Johnson-Laird, P. N. (1999). Deductive Reasoning. *Annual Review of Psychology, 50*, 109-135. doi:https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.50.1.109
- Kelly, S. (2010). Qualitative interviewing techniques and styles. In I. Bourgeault, R. Dingwall, & R. de Vries, *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Methods in Health Research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Ketkar, S., Kock, N., Parente, R., & Verville, J. (2012). The impact of individualism on buyer–supplier relationship norms, trust and market performance: An analysis of data from Brazil and the U.S.A. *International Business Review*, 21(5), 782-793. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2011.09.003
- King, A. P., & Eckersley, R. J. (2019). Inferential Statistics III: Nonparametric Hypothesis Testing. In Statistics for Biomedical Engineers and Scientists (pp. 119-145). Academic Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/C2018-0-02241-0
- Klapper, L. (2006). The role of factoring for financing small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Banking & Finance, 30*(11), 3111-3130.
- Kotabe, M., Srinivasan, S., & Aulakh, P. (2002). Multinationality and firm performance: the moderating role of R&D and marketing capabilities. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 33(1), 79-97.
- Kouvelis, P., & Xu, F. (2021). A Supply Chain Theory of Factoring and Reverse Factoring. *Management Science*, *67*(10), 6071-6088. doi:https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2020.3788
- Kwon, I., & Suh, T. (2005). Trust, commitment and relationships in supply chain management: an path analysis. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 10*(1), 26-33.
- Laere, M. v. (2012). *Modelling international reverse factoring and the future of supply chain finance.* Eindhoven: Eindhoven University of Technology.
- Lam, H., Ding, L., Cheng, T., & Zhou, H. (2019). The impact of 3D printing implementation on stock returns: A contingent dynamic capabilities perspective. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 39(6/7/8), 935-961. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-01-2019-0075
- Lavie, D. (2006). The competitive advantage of interconnected firms: an extension of the resourcebased view. Academy of Management Review, 31(3), 638-658.
- Lee, C., & Rhee, B.-D. (2011). Trade credit for supply chain coordination. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 214(1), 136-146. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2011.04.004

- Lee, R. (2021). The Effect of Supply Chain Management Strategy on Operational and Financial Performance. *Sustainability*, *13*(9), 1-18. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/su13095138
- Lekkakos, S., & Serrano, A. (2016). Supply chain finance for small and medium sized enterprises: the case of reverse factoring. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, 46*(4), 367-392.
- Liebl, J., Hartmann, E., & Feisel, E. (2016). Reverse factoring in the supply chain: objectives, antecedents and implementation barriers. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management, 46*(4), 393-413.
- Liu, W., Yan, X., & Si, C. (2020). Effect of buyer-supplier supply chain strategic collaboration on operating performance: evidence from Chinese companies. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 25*(6), 823-839. doi:10.1108/SCM-12-2019-0430
- Marchi, B., Zanoni, S., & Jaber, M. (2020). Improving Supply Chain Profit through Reverse Factoring: A New Multi-Suppliers Single-Vendor Joint Economic Lot Size Model. *International Journal of Financial Studies*, 8(2), 1-16. doi:https://doi.org/10.3390/ijfs8020023
- Mason, J. (2002). Qualitative researching (2nd ed. ed.). London: Sage Publications.
- Maurer, M., & Steinberg, J. (2021, September 22). FASB Wants More Disclosure on Companies' Supply-Chain Finance Programs. Retrieved from The Wall Street Journal: https://www.wsj.com/articles/fasb-wants-more-disclosure-on-companies-supply-chainfinance-programs-11632337730
- McWilliams, A., & Siegel, D. (1997). Event Studies in Management Research: Theoretical and Empirical Issues. *Academy of Management Journal, 40*, 626-657.
- Miller, J., Davis-Sramek, B., Fugate, B., Pagell, M., & Flynn, B. (2021). Editorial commentary: Adressing confusion in the diffusion of archival data research. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 57(3), 130-146.
- Milne, R. (2009, October 22). *Sweetener for suppliers*. Retrieved from Financial Times: https://www.ft.com/content/976fd85a-be86-11de-b4ab-00144feab49a
- Mintu-Wimsatt, A., & Madjourova-Davri, A. (2011). Reciprocal Cooperation and the Moderating Effect of Individualism: A Five-Country Negotiation Study. *Journal of Global Marketing, 24*(5), 385-396. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/08911762.2011.634323
- Modi, S., & Mabert, V. (2010). Exploring the relationship between efficient supply chain management and firm innovation: An archival search and analysis. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *46*(4), 81-94.
- Noorderhaven, N., & Harzing, A. (2009). Knowledge-sharing and social interaction within MNEs. *Journal of International Business Studies, 40*(1), 719-740.
- Nowak, L., & Dong, D. (1997). Intercultural Differences Between Chinese and Americans in Business. Business Communication Quarterly, 60(1), 115-123.
- Orzes, G., Jia, F., Nassimbeni, G., & Sartor, M. (2017). Performance implications of SA8000 certification. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 37*(11), 1625-1653. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-12-2015-0730

- Pfohl, H.-C., & Gomm, M. (2009). Supply chain finance Optimizing financial flows in supply chains. *Logistics Research*, 1(3-4), 149-161. doi:10.1007/s12159-009-0020-y
- Power, D., Schoenherr, T., & Samson, D. (2010). The cultural characteristic of individualism/collectivism: A comparative study of implications for investment in operations between emerging Asian and industrialized Western countries. *Journal of Operations Management, 28*(3), 206-222. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2009.11.002
- Provan, K., & Skinner, S. (1989). Interorganizational dependence and control as predictors of opportunism in dealer–supplier relations. *Academy of Management Journal, 32*(1), 202-212.
- Randall, W. S., & Farris, M. T. (2009). Supply chain financing: using cash-to-cash variables to strengthen the supply chain. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 39*(8), 669-689. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030910996314
- Rey, D., & Neuhäuser, M. (2011). Wilcoxon-Singed-Rank Test. In M. Lovric, International Ecyclopedia of Statistical Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04898-2
- Robinson, O. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 11*(1), 25-41.
- Rochon, J., Gondan, M., & Kieser, M. (2012). To test or not to test: Preliminary assessment of normality when comparing two independent samples. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 12. doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-12-81
- Ross, S., Westerfield, R., & Jaffe, J. (2005). Corporate Finance. Boston MA: McGraw-Hill.
- Sako, M., Lamming, R., & Helper, S. (1995). Supplier Relations in the UK Car Industry: Good News and Bad News. *European Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 1(4), 237-248.
- Schwartz, S. (1994). Beyond individualism/collectivism: New cultural dimensions of values. In S.
   Schwartz, F. Sortheix, C. Lechner, & P. Parker, *Studies of 10 Basic Values*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Seifert, R., & Seifert, D. (2011). Financing the Chain. *International Commerce Review, 10*(1), 32-44. doi:10.1007/s12146-011-0065-0
- Seiler, A., Papanagnou, C., & Scarf, P. (2020). On the relationship between financial perfromance and position of businesses in supply chain networks. *International Journal of Production Economics, 227*, 107690. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2020.107690
- Sengupta, K., Heiser, D. R., & Cook, L. S. (2006). Manufacturing and Service Supply Chain Performance: A Comparative Analysis. *The Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 42(4), 4-15. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-493X.2006.00018.x
- Serrano, A., & Lekkakos, S. (2015, January 23). Will Reverse Factoring be the cause of the next Financial Bubble? Retrieved from ZLC MIT Global Scale Network: https://www.zlc.edu.es/news/will-reverse-factoring-be-the-cause-of-the-next-financialbubble/
- Shin, H., Collier, D., & Wilson, D. (2000). Supply management orientation and supplier/buyer performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, *18*(3), 317-333.

- Shou, Y., Shao, J., & Wang, W. (2021). How does reverse factoring affect operating performance? An event study of Chinese manufacturing firms. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 41(4), 289-312. doi:10.1108/IJOPM-07-2020-0469
- Smith, J. (2021). *Cultural Compass Report*. Hofstede Insights. Retrieved from https://hi.hofstedeinsights.com/the-culture-compass
- Son, I., Lee, D., Lee, J.-N., & Chang, Y. B. (2014). Market perception on cloud computing initiatives in organizations: an extended resource-based view. *Information & Management*, *51*, 653-669. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2014.05.006
- Sprecher, S. (1998). Social exchange theories and sexuality. *Journal of Sex Research, 35*(1), 32-43. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499809551915
- Sprent, P. (2011). Sign Test. In M. Lovric, *International Encyclopedia of Statistical Science*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-04898-2\_515
- Stemmler, L. (2002). The role of finance in supply chain management. In S. G. Seuring, *Cost Management in Supply Chains* (pp. 165-172). Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag.
- Swift, C., Guide Jr, V., & Muthulingam, S. (2019). Does supply chain visibility affect operating performance? Evidence from conflict minerals disclosures. *Journal of Operations Management*, 65(5), 406-429. doi:10.1002/joom.1021
- Tan, K., Lyman, S., & Wisner, J. (2002). Supply chain management: a strategic perspective. International Journal of Operation and Production Management, 22(6), 614-631.
- Tanrisever, F., Cetinay, H., Reindorp, M., & Fransoo, J. (2015). Value of reverse factoring in multistage supply chains. *Available at SSRN 2183991*. doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2183991
- van der Vliet, K., Reindorp, M., & Fransoo, J. (2015). The price of reverse factoring: Financing rates vs. payment delays. *European Journal of Operational Research, 242*(3), 842-853. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2014.10.052
- Vitell, S., Nwachukwu, S., & Barnes, J. (1993). The effects of culture on ethical decision-making: an application of Hofstede's typology. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *12*, 753-760.
- Vogt, P., Gardner, D., & Haeffele, M. (2012). Chapter 5: When to Use Archival Designs Literature Reviews and Secondary Data Analyses. In P. Vogt, D. Gardner, & M. Haeffele, When to Use What Research Design (pp. 86-102). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Wang, D., & Esqueda, O. (2014). National cultural effects on leverage decisions: Evidence from emerging-market ADRs. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *31*(1), 152-177.
- Wang, Z., Wang, Q., Lai, Y., & Liang, C. (2020). Drivers and outcomes of supply chain finance adoption: an empirical investigation in China. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 220, 107453. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.07.026
- Wei, H.-L., Wong, W., & Lai, K.-H. (2012). Linking inter-organizational trust with logistics information integration and partner cooperation under environmental uncertainty. *International Journal* of Production Economics, 139, 642-653.

- Whitley, E., & Ball, J. (2002). Statistics review 6: Nonparametric methods. *Critical Care, 6*(6), 509-513. doi:10.1186/cc1820
- Whitley, E., & Ball, J. (2002). Statistics Review 6: Nonparametric methods. *Critical Care, 6*(6), 509-513. doi:10.1186/cc1820
- Wong, A., Tjosvold, D., & Yu, Z. (2005). Organizational partnerships in China: self interest, goal independence and opportunism. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *90*(4), 782-791.
- Wong, C., Sancha, C., & Thomsen, C. (2017). A national culture perspective in the efficacy of supply chain integration practices. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 193, 554-565. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.08.015
- Wong, J.-M. (2011). A Relational View of Resources-based Theory: The case of Internationalization of Li & Fung Group. *The Journal of Human Resource and Adult Learning*, 7(2), 34-39.
- Wu, I.-L. C.-H.-H. (2014). Information sharing and collaborative behaviors in enabling supply chain performance: A social exchange perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 148, 122-132. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.09.016
- Wuttke, D., Blome, C., & Henke, M. (2013). Focusing the financial flow of supply chains: an empirical investigation of financial supply chain management. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 145(2), 773-789.
- Yang, J., Wang, J., Wong, C., & Lai, K. (2008). Relational stability and alliance performance in supply chain. *Omega*, *36*(4), 600-608.
- Yang, Y., Jia, F., & Xu, Z. (2019). Towards an integrated conceptual model of supply chain learning:. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 24(2), 189-214.
- Zainuddin, M., Mahi, M., Akter, S., & Yasin, I. (2020). The role of national culture in the relationship between microfinance outreach and sustainability: a correlated random effects approach. *Cross Cultural & Strategic Management, 27*(3), 447-472. doi:https://doi.org/10.1108/CCSM-12-2019-0219
- Zhang, T., Zhang, C. Y., & Pei, Q. (2019). Misconception of providing supply chain finance: its stabilizing role. *International Journal of Production economics*, 213(1), 175-184. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2019.03.008
- Zhao, L., & Huchzermeier, A. (2018). *Supply Chain Finance: Integrating Operations and Finance in Global Supply Chains* (1 ed.). Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76663-8
- Zhao, X., Flynn, B., & Roth, A. (2006). Decision sciences research in China: a critical review and research agenda: foundations and overview. *Decision Sciences*, *37*(4), 451-496.
- Zhao, X., Huo, B., Flynn, B., & Yueng, J. (2008). The impact of power and relationship commitment on the integration between manufactuers and customers in a supply chain. *Journal of Operations Management, 26*(3), 368-388. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2007.08.002

# Appendices

Appendix 1: overview	of sample firm	distribution	across	industries	and	years
Panel A: distribution of sai	mple firms by indu	ustry				

4-digit NAICS	Industry	Frequency	Percentage (%)
code			
3112	Grain and Oilseed Milling	1	2.78
3121	Beverage Manufacturing	2	5.56
3152	Cut and Sew Apparel Manufacturing	1	2.78
3222	Converted Paper Product Manufacturing	1	2.78
3253	Pesticide, Fertilizer, and Other Agricultural	1	2.78
	Chemical Manufacturing		
3254	Pharmaceutical and Medicine Manufacturing	1	2.78
3256	Soap, Cleaning Compound, and Toilet Preparation	2	5.56
	Manufacturing		
3261	Plastics Product Manufacturing	1	2.78
3322	Cutlery and Handtool Manufacturing	1	2.78
3331	Agriculture, Construction, and Mining Machinery	3	8.33
	Manufacturing		
3341	Computer and Peripheral Equipment	4	11.11
	Manufacturing		
3342	Communications Equipment Manufacturing	3	8.33
3344	Semiconductor and Other Electric Component	2	5.56
	Manufacturing		
3352	Household Appliance Manufacturing	2	5.56
3361	Motor Vehicle Manufacturing	5	13.89
3364	Aerospace Product and Parts Manufacturing	2	5.56
3371	Household and Institutional Furniture and Kitchen	1	2.78
	Cabinet Manufacturing		
3391	Medical Equipment and Supplies Manufacturing	3	8.33
TOTAL		36	100

Panel B: distribution of sample firms by year

Year	Frequency	Percentage (%)
2014	23	63.89
2015	4	11.11

2016	3	8.33
2017	2	5.56
2018	4	11.11
Total	36	100

Table: Descriptive statistics of sample firms

# Appendix 2: Study results Shou et al. (2021)

Shou et al. (2021) – How does reverse factoring affect operating performance?			
Hypothesis	Supported?	Explanation	
H1a: Reverse factoring has a	Yes	t-test: no statistically significant results	
positive effect on cost		WSR: Time period year t-1 to year t+1 – the median	
efficiency		abnormal cost efficiency performance is 0.019 and	
		statistically significant (p < 0.1).	
		Sign test:	
		• year t-1 to year t+1: 59.9% of sample firms	
		have positive abnormal cost efficiency	
		performance (p < 0.05)	
		• year t-1 to year t+2: 58.4% of sample firms	
		have positive abnormal change in cost	
		efficiency (p < 0.1)	
		Results of all tests in other periods did not provide	
		statistically significant results.	
H1b: Reverse factoring has a	Yes	t-test: year t-1 to year t+1 – the mean abnormal	
positive effect on profitability		performance of profitability is 0.013 and	
		statistically significant (p < 0.1).	
		WSR: Time period year t-1 to year t+1 – the median	
		abnormal performance of profitability is 0.009 and	
		statistically significant (p < 0.05).	
		Sign test:	
		• year t-1 to year t+1: 58.7% of the sample	
		firms achieve positive abnormal	
		performance in profitability (p < 0.05)	

	Results of all tests in other periods did not provide	
	statistically significant results.	
Conclusion: the findings indicate that reverse factoring has a positive effect on buying firms'		
operating performance in terms of cost efficiency and profitability.		

Table 3: Overview of results (Shou et al., 2021)